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Architectural Classification:

N/A

Other Description: Birney Safety Streetcar

Materials: foundation N/A roof Canvas

walls Metal other
Describe present and historic physical appearance. X See continuation
sheet.

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in
relation to other properties: Statewide

Applicable National Register Criteria: _A,C

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) : N/A

Areas of Significance: Transportation
Engineering

Period(s) of Significance: 1926-1933

Significant Dates: _1926

Significant Person(s): N/A

Cultural Affiliation: _N/A

Architect/Builder: American Car Company, St. Louis, MO

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria
considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.
X See continuation sheet.
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Summary

Streetcar # 224 is a Birney Standard Safety Car built in 1926 by the American Car Company
in St. Louis, Missouri that was operated in Fort Smith until the streectar line was closed in
1933. The streetcar was subsequently utilized for a short-order diner in Ashdown, Arkansas.
In 1979, the car was purchased by the Fort Smith Streetcar Restoration Association, who, after
twelve years of research and restoration, returned the twenty-eight passenger trolley to its
original condition in 1991. The streetcar now runs between the Fort Smith Trolley Museum
at 100 South Fourth Street and the Old Fort Museum at 320 Rogers Avenue.

Elaboration

The general specifications for the Birney Safety Car # 224 are as follows:
Make: Birney Standard Safety Car, Type F body.

Buildier: American Car Company, St. Louis, Missouri.

Capacity: 28 passengers

Power: Westinghouse motors generating 25 horsepower at 600 V DC

Truck: Single truck manufactured by G. C. Brill and Company.
Type 78 MI with friction bearings.

Operation:  Double end. Either end of trolley can go forward, duplicate of controls at each
end.

Length: Over body - 17° 9 1/2"
Over dash - 26° 9 1/2"
Over bumpers - 27 9 1/2"

Width: Over side sheets - 7° 8"

Height: With 26" wheels
Rail over roof - 9° 9 5/8"
Track to step - 15 7/8"
Step to floor - 12 1/16"
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car that had been painted many times with white household paint on both the exterior and over
the interior mahogany woodwork. The wood window frames were deteriorated, and there were
several holes in the floor. Both doors were missing, and the destination sign box had been
removed. More seriously, one end of the car had been damaged and required restoration of
the major body frame wood. All of the controls, air hoses, and electrical wiring had been
removed from the bottom of the car body. Fortunately, the canvas-over-wood top was in good
condition.

During the restoration, the layers of old paint were needle-chipped from the metal, and the
painted wood was stripped with paint remover. All of the decayed windows were rebuilt, new
doors constructed to exact specifications, and the damaged body frame was repaired. This
restoration followed the original wood type throughout. Both the exterior and interior were
“repainted to the original colors. The exterior was painted traction orange with cream trim, and
the doors and window sashes received a coat of red paint.

As the original 1926 truck had been removed, complete restoration efforts were stymied until
1984 when a dilapidated Kansas City Birney Car, # 1545, became available for sale from the
Ohio Railway Museum in Columbus, Ohio. The Fort Smith group purchased this car, which
had been constructed by the American Car Company in St. Louis in 1919, and removed the
streetcar’s body that was considered deteriorated beyond repair (it still exists in the carbarn).
The two Westinghouse motors were completely refurbished by the Baldor Electric Motor
Company using parts to original specifications. Although the car is electrically powered, air
pressure from an on board compressor operates the brakes, door opening and closing, track
sanding system, and the emergency safety system. All of the air pressure piping lines (1/2",
3/8", and 1/4") were replaced under the floor. The steel air tanks did not require replacement,
but were water pressure tested.

After twelve years of research and restoration that included thousands of volunteer hours and
encouragement and consultation from other streetcar museums across the country, the Fort
Smith Car # 224 ran under its own power on December 25, 1990.

The streetcar did not become fully operational until May 19, 1991 with the completion of the
overhead wire system to carry the 570 volt DC current. As the original 33 miles of streetcar
track had long since been removed, 1200 feet of abandoned Frisco freight spur track was
utilized, and Car # 224 now runs from the Old Fort Museum at 320 Rogers Avenue to the
Trolley Museum at 100 South Fourth Street and has provided over 38,000 riders with the now
unique experience. Additional track, which will approximately double the current length, is
now being laid next to the National Cemetery.
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Summary

The Birney Safety Streetcar # 224 was built by the American Car Company in St. Louis in
1926. The Fort Smith Light and Traction Company purchased the car and operated it until the
system was closed on November 15, 1933. It is being nominated under Criterion A with
statewide significance for its direct association with the public transportation system utilized
by nine Arkansas cities before the widespread reliance upon the automobile. Under Criterion
C, the Birney Safety Streetcar # 224 is being nominated as the best and only surviving streetcar
in operation in Arkansas.

Elaboration

The history of street railway transit in Fort Smith began in 1883 with mule-drawn cars. The
Fort Smith Railway Company headed by Samuel J. McLoud operated three cars which could
seat between 14 and 16 passengers. Electric streetcar service started in 1893 when the Fort
Smith & Van Buren Electric Street Railway Light & Power Company was granted a franchise
on the condition that it construct a bridge across the Arkansas River to Van Buren. The
company operated two streetcars and had a small electric generating plant and facilities for
light streetcar repairs. In 1902, Lemert and O’Neil acquired control of the company and
purchased the first double-truck streetcar the following year. Later in 1903, McCloud’s
company, which had partially converted to electric streetcars, combined with Lemert and
O’Neil to form the Fort Smith Traction Light & Power Company. The company was
reorganized shortly thereafter and the name slightly scrambled to create its final form, the Fort
Smith Light and Traction Company. In 1904, the H. M. Byllesby Engineering & Management
Company of Chicago, Illinois, obtained controlling interest in the company through stock
purchases.

At this time, there were fifteen streetcars running on trackage extending out Towson Avenue,
Little Rock Avenue (now Rogers Avenue), North Eleventh, and North E Streets. Fifteen open-
style cars were ordered, and improvements were made to the popular McCloud Park, an
amusement park with a roller coaster, auditorium, pavilions, baseball park, and similar
amenities that was owned by the Fort Smith Light and Traction Company. Renamed Electric
Park, it proved to be profitable for the company largely through proceeds garnered by the
streetcars transporting patrons to and from the facility. The company also benefitted from a
three-mile track extending to Arkoma, Oklahoma, where the baseball park drew big crowds
from Fort Smith on Sunday (at that time, baseball games were banned in Arkansas on Sunday).
The bridge over the Arkansas River to Van Buren was finally completed in 1912, and streetcar
service was now available to citizens of that town. Additionally, passenger movement between
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these two towns accounted for nearly 40,000 cash fares a month.

By the end of this decade, however, streetcar patronage suffered from the increasingly more
automotive-oriented society. The need for a lighter and more efficient streetcar was answered
by the Birney Safety Streetcar, which first appeared in Fort Smith in 1919. It was designed and
engineered by Charles O. Birney of the Stone and Webster Engineering Company in 1916 and
featured a single truck trolley (both front and rear wheels supported by a single frame) and a
28-passenger capability. The Birney Safety Streetcar consumed approximately 40% less
electricity than the standard trolleys at that time, and provided single operator capability. At
$6,000 per car, the Birney Safety Streetcar was also substantially less expensive than the older,
heavier trolleys. These cost-saving features allowed the company to lower fares and schedule
runs more frequently, thus presenting a competitive and attractive alternative to the automobile.
The Fort Smith Light and Traction Company owned fourteen of these cars, and #224 was from
the last batch ordered before the system was abandoned.

Still, operating expenses increased, and the Fort Smith Light and Traction Company imposed
a six cent fare in 1920. A year earlier, the Chicago headquarters had ordered the closing of
Electric Park, which was subsequently dismantled in 1920. This loss was compounded by the
construction of the new baseball park some distance from streetcar service. As fares continued
to increase, the management attempted to improve public relations by comparing Fort Smith
to other streetcar cities in terms of mileage in relation to population:

Fort Smith - 33 miles of track, 33,000 population
Little Rock - 36 miles of track, 75,000 population
Muskogee, OK - 15 miles of track, 30,000 population

In February of 1923, the Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company purchased Byllesby’s holdings
in the Fort Smith Light and Traction Company. The Oklahoma company controlled the Fort
Smith streetcar system until November 15, 1933, when, citing heavy financial losses, all
streetcar operations ceased.

The restored Birney Safety Streetcar # 224 is being nominated under Criterion A with
statewide significance for its direct association with the streetcar era of public transportation
that existed in nine Arkansas cities before World War II. Under Criterion C, the trolley is
significant not only as the best example of a Birney Safety Streetcar, but as the only operating
historic streetcar of any type in Arkansas.
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See continuation sheet.
Verbal Boundary Description: See continuation sheet.
The streetcar is permanently housed at the Fort Smith Trolley Museum, 100
South Fourth Street (UTM: 15/370150/3916560), and it currently operates on

1200 feet of track running approximately two-and-a-half blocks northeast to
the 0ld Fort Museum at 320 Rogers Avenue.

Boundary Justification: See continuation sheet.

This boundary includes all of the property historically associated with this
resource that retains its integrity.
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